**RECEIVED**

**Apr 05 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Perry M. Buckner, III, Circuit Court Judge

The Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Common Pleas Case No.: 2019-CP-15-00218

Consolidated Appellate Case No.: 2020-000607

---

Larry Rahn, .....Respondent,

v.

Barbara Smith, .....Appellant.

---

**APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

---

THURMOND KIRCHNER & TIMBES, P.A.  
Thomas J. Rode (SC Bar No. 77480)  
15 Middle Atlantic Wharf  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 937-8000  
[thomas@tktlawyers.com](mailto:thomas@tktlawyers.com)

and

PARKER LAW, LLC

## INTRODUCTION

On November 20, 2015, the appellant Barbara Smith (“Smith”) signed an agreement granting her brother, Larry Rahn (“Respondent”), an option to purchase her interest in a parcel of real property for \$312,000.00. The agreement provided Respondent “[had] 24 months to deliver [the] funds.” (R. p. 14). Although the funds were never delivered, on March 21, 2019 (*i.e.*, 42 months after the option was given) Respondent brought this action for specific performance of the agreement. (R. pp. 10-11). The primary dispute before the trial court was whether Respondent’s right to purchase the property had expired. (R. pp. 35-37).

This consolidated appeal concerns two separate orders (from two separate judges). The first is a summary judgment order issued by Judge Perry M. Buckner on December 3, 2019, and finding Respondent was entitled to specific performance if he tendered payment on or before July 11, 2020—a date Smith asserts is contrary to the plain language of the 2015 agreement which provided for a 24-month option period. (R. pp. 1-5). Although Smith appealed, under Section 18-9-170 of the South Carolina Code, this appeal did not stay Judge Buckner’s Order. Therefore, when the July 11, 2020, deadline passed without Respondent tendering payment (or seeking to enforce the Order under Rule 70, SCRPC) Smith filed a motion pursuant to Rule 60, SCRPC (with leave of this Court) for relief from Judge Buckner’s Order on the basis that it was expired. (R. p. 92).

The second order on appeal stems from Smith’s Rule 60 Motion and was issued by Judge Bentley Price on December 14, 2021 (as amended). (R. p. 95). Although Judge Price determined Judge Buckner’s previous Order had expired on July 11, 2020, rather than granting Smith’s Rule 60 Motion, Judge Price *sua sponte* declared (nearly a year and a half after the fact) that this deadline for specific performance was “equitably tolled” until February 1, 2022—a completely arbitrary

date. (R. p. 95). Not only did Judge Price lack the authority to modify Judge Buckner's Order in this way, the *sua sponte* imposition of equitable tolling is without any factual basis or evidentiary support.

Ultimately, the question of whether Respondent's right to specific performance expired on July 11, 2020 (as found by Judge Buckner) or February 1, 2022 (as found by Judge Price) has become purely academic because both these dates have passed. Thus, under either of these orders, Respondent's right to specific performance has expired. Therefore, this matter is moot, and this Court should declare Respondent's right to specific performance—assuming this right ever existed—has expired.

#### ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Because the underlying Orders have expired the matter is moot, and Respondent's right to specific performance, even if it existed, has expired, and this Court cannot extend the option period.
- II. Did Judge Price err when he *sua sponte* extended the deadline for specific performance previously ordered by Judge Buckner under the doctrine of equitable tolling where the law prohibits one circuit judge from amending the ruling(s) of another circuit judge, and where the record is completely devoid of any evidence or factual findings to support the doctrine of equitable tolling?
- III. Did Judge Buckner err in finding Respondent was entitled to specific performance on or before July 11, 2020, where the law and plain language of the agreement establish the option expired long before this date, and where the only basis for the Court's ruling is the in-court representations of Respondent's lawyer rather than any evidence?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter concerns two parcels of real property in Colleton County known as "Glover Place" and "Home Place." In 2006 Smith, Respondent and their two other siblings—Loretta Harriett and Brantley Rahn—each inherited a one-fourth (1/4) interest in these two parcels from

their father.<sup>1</sup> Brantley died in 2011, and his 1/4 interest was split between his two children Kenneth Rahn and Nancy Crosby (*i.e.*, 1/8<sup>th</sup> or 12.5% each).

In 2015, the five owners held a mediation in the hopes of consolidating ownership of the parcels in a more practical way. From this it was agreed that Harriett would take 100% ownership of Glover Place (the smaller parcel) in exchange for relinquishing her interest in Home Place (the larger parcel) to the remaining owners pro-rata. This arrangement would leave Home Place owned by Smith (1/3); Respondent (1/3); Nancy (1/6); and Kenneth (1/6). (R. pp. 12-14). The pre-mediation and post-mediation interests are shown here for convenience:

**Fig. 1 – Pre-Mediation Interests**

<b>Owner</b>	<b>Home Place</b>	<b>Glover Place</b>
Smith	1/4 (25%)	1/4 (25%)
Respondent	1/4 (25%)	1/4 (25%)
Harriett	1/4 (25%)	1/4 (25%)
Kenneth	1/8 (12.5%)	1/8 (12.5%)
Nancy	1/8 (12.5%)	1/8 (12.5%)

**Fig. 2 – Post-Mediation Interests**

<b>Owner</b>	<b>Home Place</b>	<b>Glover Place</b>
Smith	1/3 (33.33%)	0%
Respondent	1/3 (33.33%)	0%
Harriett	0%	100%
Kenneth	1/6 (16.66%)	0%
Nancy	1/6 (16.66%)	0%

At the mediation it was separately agreed that Smith would give the owners of Home Place (*i.e.*, Respondent, Nancy, and Kenneth) a 24-month option to purchase her (now increased) 1/3 interest in Home Place for \$312,000.00. To memorialize this, on November 20, 2015, the parties executed two written agreements entitled: “Settlement Agreement 1” and “Settlement Agreement 2,” which are described below.

**Settlement Agreement 1:**

This agreement addressed Harriett’s acquisition of Glover Place and relinquishment of Home Place and provides in relevant part that the “the land shall be divided as follows:”

...

---

<sup>1</sup> Smith’s father Marvin Rahn died in 1968 leaving these two parcels to his wife Myrtie Rahn for her life and then to his four children. The life estate ended when Myrtie died in 2006.

Larry L. Rahn, Barbara R. Smith, Kenneth F. Rahn and Nancy R. Crosby will deed their interest in the ‘Glover Tract’ [] to Lorretta R. Harriett, in exchange for her relinquishment of her interest in the ‘Home Place Tract’.”

(R. p. 12, ¶ 4).

Settlement Agreement 2:

This agreement concerns the option to purchase Smith’s interest in Home Place and is the agreement at issue in this appeal. It provides, in full:

In light of mediation, Loretta R. Harriett has relinquished her interest in the Home Place Tract [of] property. Due to such, the current ownership of the Home Place Tract is 1/3 interest to Larry L. Rahn [Respondent], 1/3 interest to Barbara R. Smith [Appellant], 1/6 interest to Kenneth F. Rahn, and 1/6 interest to Nancy R. Crosby.

1. Barbara R. Smith [Appellant] will deed her interest in this property to Larry L. Rahn [Respondent], Kenneth F. Rahn, and Nancy R. Crosby for the sum of three hundred and twelve thousand and 00/100 (\$312,000.00) [D]ollars. Larry L. Rahn [Respondent], Kenneth F. Rahn, and Nancy R. Crosby have 24 months to deliver funds to Barbara R. Smith [Appellant] in exchange for her interest in the land.

2. Each party is responsible for their own deed and plat preparation as well as surveying cost[s] or other cost[s] necessary.

(R. p. 14).

There was apparently a delay in executing the deeds related to Glover Place under Settlement Agreement 1. As a result, on January 23, 2017—roughly 14 months after the agreement was executed—Respondent filed a lawsuit against Harriett for specific performance of Settlement Agreement 1 and seeking to compel Harriett to execute the necessary deeds. (Case No. 2017-CP-15-059). On May 4, 2018, the circuit court ordered Harriett to execute the deeds within fifteen days. (R. at *id.*). Although not in the record, Respondent claims Harriett executed the deed conveying her interest in Home Place on July 11, 2018. (R. p. 64, lines 18-19); (R. p. 2).

In the fall of 2018—roughly a year after the 24-month option period expired—Respondent approached Smith with a proposal to cut the timber on Home Place. (R. p. 50, ¶ 22). However,

rather than pay Smith her 1/3 share of the proceeds from the Home Place timber, Respondent proposed to use Smith's share of the proceeds to purchase her interest in Home Place for the option price of \$312,000.00 (R. at *id.*). In essence, Respondent proposed to pay Smith with her own money. Smith declined this proposal, not only because it was a bad deal, but also because the option had long since expired. (R. at *id.*). Neither before nor since has Respondent (or any other owner) ever tendered (or attempted to tender) the required \$312,000.00 option price. (R. pp. 111-113).

### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The procedural history of this matter is both confusing and troubling. On March 21, 2019, Respondent filed this lawsuit for specific performance of Settlement Agreement 2. (R. pp. 10-11). The Complaint seeks to “compel [Smith] to execute the deed in performance of the obligation she agreed to in the mediation agreement.” (R. p. 11, ¶ 12). The other owners of Home Place (*i.e.*, Nancy and Kenneth) are not parties to this suit although they are parties to Settlement Agreement 2. Although Respondent's Complaint alleges that he was “ready, willing, and able to *execute the deed*,” the complaint does not allege that Respondent was ready willing and able to *pay the purchase price* or that he had attempted to make such payment. (R. p. 11, ¶ 11). (emphasis added). This is important because a plaintiff's tender of performance is a necessary element to succeed on a claim for specific performance.<sup>2</sup> Smith answered the Complaint asserting the option period had expired. (R. pp. 35-37).

---

<sup>2</sup> In addition to “delivering” payment, Settlement Agreement 2 also requires Respondent to prepare the deed that Smith was to execute upon tender of payment. (R. p. 12). Although Respondent claims, at paragraph 9 of the Complaint, that he has already prepared the required deed (which he purports to be Exhibit B to the Complaint), this is not correct. Exhibit B to the Complaint is a series of deeds all associated with Glover Place and which only relate to Respondent's previous suit against Harriett (R. pp. 10-34). To date Respondent has never presented the deed required by Settlement Agreement 2—which Respondent acknowledges he is required to prepare as a

## JUDGE BUCKNER'S SUMMARY JUDGMENT ORDER

On June 12, 2019 (just 18 days after Smith answered the Complaint) Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 38). This motion was filed before any discovery was conducted. (R. p. 38). The only evidence Respondent submitted in support of his motion was a copy of Settlement Agreement 2 which was also attached as an exhibit to his complaint. (R. p. 38). The only written argument Respondent offered in support of his motion consisted of two conclusory sentences in the filed notice of motion: “Despite [Smith’s] execution of the mediation agreement, she has refused to comply with its terms. [Respondent] prays for an order granting the relief sought in his complaint.” (R. p. 38).

In opposition to summary judgment, Smith filed a detailed affidavit establishing that neither Respondent nor any other owner had ever delivered or attempted to deliver the purchase money. (R. pp. 47-51). Further, Smith argued the plain language of Settlement Agreement 2, established a 24-month option period, for which there were no conditions precedent, and which expired. (R. pp. 39-46).

Judge Buckner heard Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment on October 9, 2019. (R. p. 52). Because Respondent submitted no evidence to support his motion, Respondent relied only on the representations of his counsel, Mr. Crosby, of Peters, Murdaugh, Parker, Eltzroth & Detrick. To substantiate the claim for specific performance, Respondent’s counsel told Judge Buckner that Respondent stood “ready to pay [Smith] the \$312,000 whether the timber had been cut or not.” (R. p. 83, lines 1-7). However, there is/was no evidence to support this assertion. Moreover, there was no discussion for why that money had not, to date, been offered to Smith.

---

condition precedent to his option rights under the Settlement Agreement. *See* (R. p. 11) (stating the “deed ha[s] been prepared per the mediation agreement.”).

On December 3, 2019, Judge Buckner issued an Order finding that Harriett’s execution of the deeds was a condition precedent, and therefore the 24-month period did not begin to run until July 11, 2018—when Harriett allegedly executed the deeds. (R. pp. 3-5). Judge Buckner directed that “[Smith] is hereby ORDERED to transfer her interest in the Home Place **upon payment** of \$312,000.00 . . . [and] the Parties are further ORDERED to fully comply with the terms of the Settlement Agreement 2 on or before July 11, 2020.” (R. pp. 4-5) (emphasis added). Smith appealed, and this Court assigned the matter Appellate Case No. 2020-00607 (the “Initial Appeal”).

SMITH’S RULE 60 MOTION AND JUDGE PRICE’S *SUA SPONTE* ORDER  
FOR EQUITABLE TOLLING

Because Judge Buckner’s Order directed the conveyance of real property, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-170 and Rule 241(b)(4), SCACR, this Order was not stayed by the initiation of an appeal. Moreover, Respondent did not take any action to enforce or stay Judge Buckner’s Order. *See* Rule 70, SCRCR (providing the procedure for enforcing a court order which directs the conveyance of land with a specified time). Therefore, when Respondent failed to tender payment by July 11, 2020, it stood that Judge Buckner’s Order, whether right or wrong, had expired. Because the Initial Appeal was pending, on October 2, 2020, Smith filed a motion with this Court seeking leave to file a Rule 60 Motion with the circuit court to obtain relief from Judge Buckner’s expired Order. (R. pp. 107-109). This Court granted such leave on November 30, 2020. (R. p. 106). Smith filed the Rule 60 Motion with the circuit court, together with supporting affidavits. (R. pp. 99-114). Respondent offered no written memoranda or evidence in opposition to Smith’s Rule 60 motion, and this motion was heard by Judge Price<sup>3</sup> on March 18, 2021. (R. p. 115).

---

<sup>3</sup> Judge Buckner retired before this motion was heard.

On April 5, 2021, Judge Price issued an Order confirming that Smith's "notice of appeal did not stay execution [of Judge Buckner's judgment]" or its July 11, 2020 expiration date. (R. pp. 92-93). However, Judge Price proceeded to declare, *sua sponte*, that "equity required" that this long-expired deadline be "tolled pending the appeal." (R. p. 93). In response, Smith filed a motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCR, asserting this relief (which was never requested by Respondent) was improper and unsupported by any evidence support. (R. pp. 134-139).

Smith's Rule 59 Motion was heard on November 2, 2021. (R. p. 141). At the hearing Judge Price clarified his ruling by stating: "My finding is that Judge Buckner's order was the law of the land. It got stayed by myself beginning on that July[, 11, 2020] date, basically because of the appeal that was filed as to Judge Buckner's Order and the date and time came in July 11<sup>th</sup>. I simply said that it had been stayed from July 11, '20 until I made my April ruling." (R. p. 170, lines 16-22). The Court went on to explain: "I'm going to agree that his [*i.e.*, Judge Buckner's order] has expired, however, I tolled it and I'm giving it a new date three months from today's date for specific performance." (R. p. 171, lines 4-7). This was reduced to a written order on December 14, 2021, in which Judge Price amended his prior order to provide the July 11, 2020, deadline would be equitably tolled until February 1, 2022. (R. p. 95). Specifically, the court stated: "the Parties shall have until February 1, 2022 to complete performance under the contract after which the non-performing party(s) rights shall expire." (R. p. 95). Smith timely filed notice of appeal from this order which was assigned Appellate Case No. 2021-01540 (herein the "Second Appeal").

Because this order (like Judge Buckner's Order before it) was not stayed by the Second Appeal, the court's additional finding that the parties would lose their rights under the contract on February 1, would ostensibly resolve the issues pending in the Initial Appeal. However, this was problematic because Smith could not perform until Respondent tendered the required \$312,000

payment *and* prepared a deed for her execution, neither of which occurred as the February 1 deadline approached. *See* (R. p. 14) (Settlement Agreement 2 requiring each party to be responsible for their own deed preparation). Therefore, to avoid losing her “rights” (whatever the court meant by “rights”), on January 27, 2022, Smith filed an Emergency Motion for Supersedeas, asking Judge Price to have the parties deposit their respective performance with the court or in escrow pending the appeal. (R. p. 176). (Smith offering to place the executed deed (once prepared) in escrow and asked Judge Price to order Respondent to place the purchase money in escrow).<sup>4</sup>

On February 1, 2022, Judge Price issued an order denying Smith’s offer to place performance in escrow, but nonetheless stating “the Court finds it appropriate to impose supersedeas pending the outcome of the appeal.” (R. p. 97).<sup>5</sup>

#### APPELLATE PROCEDURE

On February 11, 2022, this Court issued an order consolidating the second appeal from Judge Price with the initial appeal from Judge Buckner’s Order.

---

<sup>4</sup> The record is devoid of any evidence that Respondent is now, or ever was, ready and able to pay the purchase price. Smith’s contention has been that Respondent did not have the ability to pay and that this litigation is an effort to gain additional time to possibly accumulate the funds. Respondent’s opposition to deposit the purchase money in escrow is consistent with Smith’s contention. Smith’s contention would also explain why Respondent allowed Judge Buckner’s Order to expire without pursuing enforcement as provided for by, *inter alia*, Rule 70, SCRCF.

<sup>5</sup> The practical effect of this supersedeas is unclear and seems illogical. When the supersedeas was issued, the then-controlling order was “equitably tolling” the July 11, 2020, option deadline (*i.e.*, pausing the clock). Pursuant to Rule 241, SCACR, a supersedeas would operate as a stay of this order, thereby stopping the tolling (*i.e.*, restarting the clock). Because Judge Price found that Judge Buckner’s Order had expired, the tolling was all that kept the court from granting Smith’s Rule 60 Motion. By removing this tolling, Judge Price’s supersedeas effectively nullifies his own order and seems to leave the case in a posture where Smith’s Rule 60 Motion *must* be granted.

## ARGUMENT PART ONE

### Mootness

#### **I. The Orders on appeal have expired and so too has Respondent's right to specific performance, and therefore, this matter is moot.**

The core dispute in this case is when Respondent's option expired, and it cannot be overlooked that it was Respondent himself who advocated a July 11, 2020, expiration and Judge Buckner agreed. Similarly, Judge Price found Respondent's option expired on July 11, 2020, but *sua sponte* tolled it until February 1, 2022. While both these rulings are in error, the larger problem is that both July 11, 2020, and February 1, 2022, have passed, and this court can neither practically nor legally roll back the clock. *Accord Ingram v. Kasey's Assocs.*, 340 S.C. 98, 106-08, 531 S.E.2d 287, 291-92 at n. 1 (2000) (the Supreme Court directing that because an optionee "must be able to perform at the **exact time** he requested specific performance, not some 'reasonable time' in the future" and a court cannot "expand the time for [an optionee] to tender the money.") (emphasis added); *Gordon v. Lancaster*, 425 S.C. 386, 389, 823 S.E.2d 173, 174 (2018) (the Supreme Court holding that a court cannot expand the life of a judgment past its expiration). Thus, Respondent's right to specific performance has expired under both Judge Buckner's Order and Judge Price's Order. This fact will remain regardless of whether this Court affirms or reverses these Orders on appeal.<sup>6</sup>

Here the mootness discussion begins with Section 18-9-170 of the Code as well as Rule 241(b)(4), SCACR, both of which provide that an order directing the conveyance of real property is not stayed by the initiation of an appeal. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-170 ("If the judgment

---

<sup>6</sup> At bottom, there are three alternatives; this Court agrees with Smith and finds the option expired on November 20, 2017, or it agrees with Judge Buckner and finds it expired on July 11, 2020, or third, it agrees with Judge Price and finds it expired on July 11, 2020, but was tolled until February 1, 2022. However, because each of these various deadlines have passed, Respondent's ability to demand specific performance has therefore expired under any (or all) of these scenarios.

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