RECEIVED
Mar 30 2023
SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Perry M. Buckner, III, Circuit Court Judge

The Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Consolidated Appellate Case No.: 2020-000607

Larry Rahn,Respondent,

v.

Barbara Smith,Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Ronnie L. Crosby
John E. Parker, Jr.
PARKER LAW GROUP, LLP
101 Mulberry Street East
Hampton, SC 29924
Phone: (803) 943-2111

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Smith, in an attempt to conflate the issues and muddle the facts, makes several contentions that are not supported by South Carolina law or the circumstances of this action. First, Smith argues that Settlement Agreement 2 is an option contract that would have required Rahn to deliver payment to Smith prior to the 24-month deadline in order for him to receive the remedy of specific performance. This argument was never made by Smith prior to her post-appeal Rule 60 motion to vacate the Circuit Court's December 3 Order and is not reflective of South Carolina law describing the characteristics of option contracts. Since Settlement Agreement 2 is not an option contract, Rahn was not required to tender the purchase money to Smith prior to the deadline in order to receive specific performance.

Second, Smith argues that the passage of a deadline for specific performance will moot the order granting specific performance if the nonperforming party refuses to comply with the order and appeals. This proposition is also unsupported by South Carolina law, when in fact Rule 70, SCRPC provides that a party may apply to a trial court to enforce an order granting specific performance after the deadline for performance has expired. While the issues addressed in the Circuit Court's December 3 Order were not stayed by this Appeal, and statutory law additionally provides that any potential execution of the judgment that may have

been sought by Rahn was not stayed, the law does not state that a litigant loses his right to specific performance if the opposing party continues to refuse to perform. The law specifically provides that if the time for compliance has passed, the litigant may seek to execute the judgment, hold the other party in contempt, or apply for relief pursuant to Rule 70. Neither the Circuit Court nor this Court are required to “roll back the clock”, as argued by Smith, to afford relief to Rahn. If the Circuit Court’s Orders are affirmed, Rahn may pursue relief under any of the above-described mechanisms. This is proof positive that the Circuit Court’s Orders are not moot, regardless of whether the appeal of an order granting specific performance acts to stay the issues on appeal. Contrary to Smith’s contentions, Rule 70 contains no language indicating that it is the “means to prevent an order from becoming moot.”

Third, Settlement Agreement 2 does not contemplate the conveyance of future interests or any interest of Smith’s that is less than a 1/3 interest, nor does it contemplate that the parties may proceed with Settlement Agreement 2 even if Harriette had not previously conveyed her interest in the Home Place Tract to the other heirs. Fourth, Smith ignores that her affidavit explicitly provides that Rahn and the other heirs had procured the means to perform under the agreement using timber bids. Lastly, regardless of whether the Circuit Court equitably tolled the deadline in its April 5 Order, or whether it simply denied Smith’s Rule 60 motion, the Circuit Court had jurisdiction to make further orders enforcing its previous judgment, and since this is an equitable matter, it appropriately did so under the

circumstances. For the following reasons, the Circuit Court's Orders should be affirmed.

I. The Orders are not moot and Rahn's right to have the Orders enforced was not extinguished by the passage of time.

A. Settlement Agreement 2 was not an option contract and time was not of the essence.

Smith desires to construe Settlement Agreement 2 as an option contract in order to argue that it is now moot and unenforceable.³ By its terms, Settlement Agreement 2 is not an option contract, but is instead a contract setting forth the sale of real estate within a designated time-period. The agreement does not give Rahn the option to purchase the subject property; it requires him to do so. Additionally, the agreement by its terms does not expire with the lapse of the designated deadline, as it does not specify that time is of the essence.⁴

Settlement Agreement 2 is not an option contract because it fails to meet the first requirement of an option contract. Option contracts are "unilateral contracts

³ The undersigned notes that this Court is appellate only and generally does not have authority to decide issues that have not been raised to and ruled upon by a trial court. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 14-8-200. Smith's mootness argument may therefore only be reviewed by the Court if it was ruled upon by the Circuit Court. While Smith did raise the issue of mootness to the Circuit Court in its post-appeal Rule 60 motion, the Circuit Court's April 5, 2021 Order does not contain a specific ruling as to whether the Orders were moot. When an issue is raised to, but not ruled on, by a trial court, in order to preserve the issue for appellate review it must be properly raised in a Rule 59(e) motion. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 565, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). It is not inherent in the Circuit Court's April 5 Order that it determined mootness regarding the December 3, 2019 Order; the Circuit Court could have equitably tolled the deadline for performance without a determination of whether the December 3, 2019 Order was moot. Since Smith did not raise the issue of mootness to the Circuit Court in her Rule 59(e) motion, the issue is not preserved for the Court's review.

⁴ Rahn raises this argument as an additional sustaining ground for the Circuit Court's Order. *See I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) (providing that a respondent may raise on appeal any additional sustaining grounds with a basis in the record on appeal).

where the optionor, for a valuable consideration, grants the optionee a right to make a contract of purchase but does not bind the optionee to do so” *Ingram v. Kasey’s Assocs.*, 340 S.C. 98, 108, 531 S.E.2d 287, 292 (2000). Settlement Agreement 2 is not a unilateral contract. Settlement Agreement 2 binds both parties to execute the sale of Smith’s interest in the subject tract and requires that it should be done within two years. It does not give Rahn the option of buying the subject tract, nor did Rahn pay separate consideration in exchange for such an option. Under no scenario could Settlement Agreement 2 be convincingly portrayed as an option contract. Smith attempts to do so in order to persuade the Court that time was of the essence in the performance of the agreement, such that the agreement and all subsequent orders would now be moot.

Since the agreement is not an option contract, time was not of the essence of the agreement unless it was made so by the terms of the agreement, expressly or by implication. *Bishop v. Tolbert*, 249 S.C. 289, 300, 153 S.E.2d 912, 918 (1967). When a contract does not include a provision that time is of the essence, the law implies that it is to be done within a reasonable time. *Hobgood v. Pennington*, 300 S.C. 309, 314, 387 S.E.2d 690, 693 (Ct. App. 1989). “In equity, strict compliance with time limits contained in a contract will not ordinarily be enforced, except with regard to option contracts.” *Faulkner v. Millar*, 319 S.C. 216, 220, 460 S.E.2d 378, 380 (1995). This is true even if the contract contains a deadline. *See Lowcountry Open Land Trust v. Charleston Southern Univ.*, 376 S.C. 399, 404-07, 656 S.E.2d 775, 778-79 (Ct. App. 2008).

Settlement Agreement 2 did not contain a time is of the essence provision. It only provided that Smith would deed her 1/3 interest in the Home Place Tract to Rahn, and that Rahn would have 24 months to deliver funds to Smith. Since the contract did not provide, explicitly or by implication, that time was of the essence, the parties had a reasonable time to complete performance of the contract. Since Harriett did not relinquish her interest in the Home Place Tract until July 11, 2018, Rahn had 24 months from that date to deliver funds to Smith. Smith appealed prior to the expiration of the deadline. It was entirely reasonable for the Circuit Court to ultimately determine that the parties had until February 1, 2022 to perform Settlement Agreement 2, as under the circumstances a condition precedent was not met until over two years after the agreement was signed, and Smith subsequently appealed the Circuit Court's Order prior to the expiration of the deadline.⁵

B. A judgment ordering specific performance is not moot merely because the judgment's deadline for performance has passed.

Smith would have the Court believe that simply because the deadlines contained in the Circuit Court's December 3, 2019 and December 14, 2021 Orders have passed that those Orders are now moot. In other words, Smith seeks to convince the Court that any time a circuit court orders specific performance by a certain date, an incalcitrant litigant may refuse to comply with the specific performance order by that date, appeal the order, then on appeal argue that the specific performance order is moot because the deadline has passed. This would

⁵ The February 1, 2022 deadline was stayed by the Circuit Court in its February 1, 2022 Order granting Smith's request for supersedeas.

clearly be inequitable and create unfair results, and as such, Smith's argument should be rejected by the Court.

Generally, appellate courts may only consider cases presenting a justiciable controversy. *Byrd v. Irmo High Sch.*, 321 S.C. 426, 430, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996). A justiciable controversy exists when there is a real and substantial controversy that is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute that is contingent, hypothetical, or abstract. *Id.* at 431, 468 S.E.2d at 864. A moot case exists where a judgment rendered by the court will have no practical legal effect upon an existing controversy because an intervening event renders any grant of effectual relief impossible for the reviewing court. *Mathis v. S.C. State Highway Dep't*, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973). If there is no actual controversy, this Court will not decide moot or academic questions. *Id.* (citing *Jones v. Dillon–Marion Human Res. Dev. Comm'n.*, 277 S.C. 533, 535, 291 S.E.2d 195, 196 (1982)); see also *Wallace v. City of York*, 276 S.C. 693, 694, 281 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1981).

From a common-sense standpoint, the passage of a deadline for specific performance does not render a circuit court's order toothless or prevent the circuit court or this Court from granting effectual relief. While the Circuit Court's December 3, 2019 Order finds that under Settlement Agreement 2 the parties had until July 11, 2020 to comply with its terms, the Order also decrees that the parties were required to comply with these terms by July 11, 2020. Therefore, at the time of the Order, Settlement Agreement 2 had not expired and was subject to specific

performance. Just because the deadline passed does not mean that the parties' rights under Settlement Agreement 2 vanished into thin air. This is particularly true because the agreement did not designate that time was of the essence.

Both parties retained the right to enforce Settlement Agreement 2 after July 11, 2020, and these rights continued for as long as the Circuit Court's judgment was valid and could be executed. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-30 (providing that executions may issue upon a final judgment at any time within ten years from the date of the original judgment). After the expiration of the deadline, either party could have applied to the Circuit Court to enforce the judgment under Rule 70, SCRPC, or Smith could have petitioned the Circuit Court for a writ of execution.

Rule 70 provides that

If a judgment directs a party to execute a conveyance of land or to deliver deeds or other documents or to perform any other specific act and the party fails to comply within the time specified, the court may direct the act to be done at the cost of the disobedient party by some other person appointed by the court and the act when so done has like effect as if done by the party.

Rule 70, SCRPC. Smith's argument that the Orders are no longer live, and that the passage of the deadline rendered the Circuit Court completely devoid of any means to provide effective relief to Rahn, is completely misleading. Nowhere within Rule 70, statutory law, or the Circuit Court's Orders does it require that an applicant request relief prior to the expiration of a specific performance deadline, or that the applicant must pay the other party first to be entitled to performance.

The fact that the deadline expired does not mean that the December 3, 2019, April 5, 2021, and December 14, 2021 Orders are moot; if anything it means that

one, or both, of the parties in this action may be in violation of the Orders. The Circuit Court retains authority and jurisdiction to enforce its judgment, and this Court, by either affirming, vacating, or reversing the Orders, has the ability to affect the rights of the parties by either granting relief to Smith or enforcing Rahn's right to the specific performance of Settlement Agreement 2.

A decision by this Court will have a practical legal effect on both parties' rights by either (1) finding that the Circuit Court was not in error in ordering specific performance, (2) finding that the Circuit Court was in error and that Rahn was not entitled to specific performance on summary judgment. The Orders still have a practical legal effect because once the stay on this case is lifted, Rahn may apply to the Circuit Court pursuant to Rule 70, SCRCP to enforce the judgment, or Smith may seek to enforce the judgment under Rule 69, SCRCP.⁶ There are no negative words in South Carolina statutes or rules invalidating or nullifying an order for specific performance simply because the deadline provided by the order has passed without compliance by a nonperforming party.

While the issue of whether the passage of a court ordered deadline moots the order containing the deadline is a novel question under South Carolina law, other jurisdictions have dealt with the issue and found that the passage of the deadline does not render the order or an appeal from the order moot if effectual relief can still be provided by the courts despite its passage. *See Feehan v. Marcone*, 331 Conn. 436, 486-90, 204 A.3d 666, 697-700 (Conn. 2019); *Sierra Pac. Indus. v. Lyng*, 866

⁶ Rule 69, SCRCP provides for the enforcement of a judgment for the payment of money.

F.2d 1099, 1111 (9th Cir. 1989); *Jacksonville Port Auth. v. Adams*, 556 F.2d 52, (D.C. Cir. 1977).

C. The issue of specific performance in this case is capable of repetition yet evading review.

Even if the Orders were technically moot, which they are not, the Court may still review the Orders because the issue of Smith's refusal to comply with the specific performance remedy in this case is capable of repetition that would evade the Court's review. The Court may address an issue despite mootness if the issue raised is capable of repetition and would evade appellate review. *Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 20, 26-27, 630 S.E.2d 474, 478 (2006). South Carolina has adopted a less restrictive approach as to when this exception to the mootness doctrine may be invoked. *Byrd v. Irmo High Sch.*, 321 S.C. 426, 432, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996). An issue may be reviewed even if it is moot if the controversy presents a recurring dilemma that can be clarified by the Court. *Id.*

The controversy presented by these consolidated Appeals is an issue that is capable of repetition but which will evade review. By its nature, the specific performance Order's deadline was going to pass long before this Court could review the issues it implicated. If the Court were to vacate the Orders after determining that the issues presented by these Appeals were moot, Rahn's specific performance action would remain live in the Circuit Court, and Smith could continue to refuse to conform to future Orders granting summary judgment to Rahn. It is inherent in the nature of this controversy and the subject transaction that any subsequent deadline imposed by the Circuit Court would also be short-term and would certainly pass

during any subsequent appeal by Smith. Thus, these Appeals fit within the evading review exception to the mootness doctrine, and the Court is authorized to review the Orders regardless of mootness.

II. The Circuit Court's Order granting specific performance is consistent with the settlement agreements' plain language and is supported by the evidence.

A. Standard of Review

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